3
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County

Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

WALTER DOUGLAS BARCLAY,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2012-212639

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

John B. Shupper, SC Bar #9374
Attorney at Law
P.O. Box 90623
Columbia, South Carolina 29290
Phone: (803) 606-7859

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED

DEC 09 2013

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court commit reversible error by declining to instruct the jury on driving under the influence, S.C. Code § 56-5-2930, as a lesser-included offense of felony DUI, § 56-5-2945, since there was evidence the decedent himself was at fault in proximately causing the collision, so that appellant would have been guilty of only the lesser offense?
2. Did the trial court commit reversible error by declining to instruct the jury that felony DUI, S.C. Code § 56-5-2945, requires proof that "the person's faculties to drive a motor vehicle [were] materially and appreciably impaired," as provided by § 56-5-2930, the DUI statute?
3. Did the trial court commit reversible error by allowing into evidence the results of appellant's blood test since the drawing of appellant's blood without a warrant constituted an unreasonable search and seizure prohibited by the Fourth Amendment, as interpreted by *Missouri v. McNeely*, US Sup. Ct. Op. No. 11-1425, decided April 17, 2013?
4. Did the trial court commit reversible error by allowing evidence of an empty Jim Beam bottle found by the side of the road near the accident scene, as the State failed to establish any evidentiary link between the bottle and appellant, so that it was irrelevant under Rules 401 and 402, SCRE, and more prejudicial than probative under Rule 403, SCRE?
5. Did the trial court commit reversible error by excluding from evidence a contemporaneous video recording of appellant offered by the defense to impeach the arresting officers' account of appellant's purported mental and physical impairment and confusion after the accident, as the court's ruling ignored Rules 104 and 901, SCRE, and also violated appellant's right to present a complete defense?
6. Did the trial court commit reversible error by declining to dismiss the charges against appellant due to the failure of the arresting officers to record appellant's conduct when they initially transported him from the hospital to the detention center, as required by S.C. Code § 56-5-2953?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Shortly after 6:00 pm on the evening of December 8, 2008, a 2004 Chevrolet Silverado pickup driven by appellant Walter Douglas Barclay and a 1996 Chevy Geo occupied by driver Alvaro Garcia and a passenger, Jose Davila, collided at a curve on narrow, oak-lined Point of Pines Road, which traverses the eastern tip of Edisto Island. R. 448. Barclay and Davila survived, but Garcia died at the scene.

On April 4, 2011, a Charleston County grand jury returned indictments charging appellant with two counts of felony DUI: Indictment 2011-GS-10-2817, felony DUI causing great bodily injury (Davila), and 2011-GS-10-2848, felony DUI causing death (Garcia).

On October 24 through November 1, 2011, Barclay stood trial on these charges in the Charleston County Court of General Sessions, the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson presiding.¹ The jury convicted appellant of felony DUI causing the death of Garcia, but acquitted him of felony DUI causing great bodily injury to Davila. The court sentenced appellant to imprisonment for twelve years and, by written order dated July 18, 2012, denied appellant's motion for a new trial.

This direct appeal follows.

¹ The court heard pretrial motions October 20 and 21, 2011.

ARGUMENT

Issue 1

The trial court committed reversible error by declining to instruct the jury on driving under the influence, S.C. Code § 56-5-2930, as a lesser-included offense of felony DUI, § 56-5-2945, since there was evidence the decedent himself was at fault in proximately causing the collision, so that appellant would have been guilty of only the lesser offense.

At trial the State and the defense introduced conflicting evidence on whether the actions of Barclay or the decedent, Garcia, had been the proximate cause of the collision. The parties agreed that the driver who had crossed the center line into the lane of oncoming traffic on the island road was at fault. Both indictments alleged that appellant caused the accident by crossing the center line.

Garcia's passenger, Davila, testified for the State (via an interpreter of Spanish) that Barclay's "gray truck . . . was in our lane" at the moment of impact. R. 656-7. Deputy William Brinson, the State's (first-time, R. 337-8) expert in traffic fatality investigation, explained, "Speed was not a factor in this collision. It was the placement of the vehicles at the time of the collision" R. 386-7. In Brinson's opinion, appellant veered over into Garcia's lane "almost completely" as both drivers entered the curve and collided with his vehicle head-on. R. 391-2; r. 410.

Defense witness Melody Bailey, who knew Davila through her charitable work on behalf of area migrant workers, testified that two months before appellant's trial, a fearful Davila had sought her help, disclosing that "he had been approached by two ladies and a law officer who said that if he did not come to court and testify that the accident was Mr.

Barclay's fault that he would go to jail." R. 1026-8. In fact, Baily continued on cross-examination, Davila had expressly told her that "the accident was not Mr. Barclay's fault, he did not feel it was Mr. Barclay's fault." R. 1036-41. Although appellant did not testify at trial (R. 1129), Deputy Michael Burrell testified that appellant had insisted, when questioned in the hospital the night of the accident, "I didn't kill anybody." R. 554-5.

Shortly before the conclusion of the State's case, in response to an inquiry from the bench, defense counsel informed the court that appellant would be requesting a charge on driving under the influence, S.C. Code § 56-5-2930, as a lesser-included offense of felony DUI, § 56-5-2945. R. 867. The court expressed its view that, at that point in the trial, "the facts would not support it in this case." *Id.* At the start of the defense case, the court indicated that, according to its analysis, DUI might not be a lesser-included offense of felony DUI as a matter of law. R. 956-71. These two charge colloquies occurred prior to Melody Bailey's testimony for the defense.

At the conclusion of the defense case, the State did not dispute that DUI might be a lesser-included offense of felony DUI, but questioned whether "it applies in this case." R. 1124. "I think that on a boiler-plate definition of lesser-included offense that DUI would be lesser-included," the court concurred, though it still doubted the evidence in the case supported the charge. R. 1125-7.

At the formal charge conference, the court declined to charge non-felony DUI, stating, "[T]here is no support for it in the record that he was simply driving under the influence. . . . [T]he only testimony in the record is that he was driving, he was significantly impaired, that he crossed the center line and caused death and great bodily

injury to Mr. Davila and Mr. Garcia." R. 1140; see also r. 1144-5; r. 1148-50. Defense counsel objected to the omission of a DUI charge. R. 1141.

After the court had given its final instructions to the jury, counsel took exception to the absence of the lesser-included offense. R. 1266. The court responded, "I have changed my opinion about whether it is a lesser-included. I don't think it is, because . . . the felony DUI statute does not use the terms 'materially and appreciably impaired,' so it really does not contain the elements of the greater offense." *Id.* (Concerning the latter point, see Issue 2, below.) Defense counsel directed the court's attention to *State v. Bodiford*, 282 S.C. 378, 318 S.E.2d 567, 568 (1984), in which the Supreme Court held, shortly after the felony DUI statute was enacted in 1983, that "Section 56-5-2945 specifies driving under the influence as an element." R. 1268.

Counsel renewed his motions and objections after the jury found appellant guilty of felony DUI causing death. R. 1282. In a written post-trial motion, counsel requested a new trial on the ground "[t]he trial court erred in failing to charge the jury on the lesser-included offense of driving under the influence, first offense." R. 1306. In a written order denying the motion, the court wrote, "Section 56-5-2945 does not include the language 'materially and appreciably impaired,' as it only requires the State to prove the Defendant was 'driving under the influence.' . . . DUI is not a lesser-included offense of Felony DUI Further, even if DUI were a lesser-included offense of Felony DUI, such an instruction was not factually supported by the evidence presented in this case." R. 1364-5. Both rulings were erroneous.

"The test for determining whether one offense is a lesser included offense of the crime charged is whether the greater of the two offenses includes all the elements of the

lesser offense. [Citation omitted.] If the lesser offense includes an element not included in the greater offense, then the lesser offense is not included in the greater. [Citation omitted.]" *State v. Bland*, 318 S.C. 315, 317, 457 611, 612 (1995); *State v. Gilliland*, S.C. Ct. App. Op. No. 5053, filed November 28, 2012.

S.C. Code § 56-5-2945(A), felony driving under the influence, provides in relevant part, "A person who, while under the influence of alcohol . . . drives a motor vehicle and when driving a motor vehicle does any act forbidden by law or neglects any duty imposed by law in the driving of the motor vehicle, which act or neglect proximately causes great bodily injury or death to a person other than himself, is guilty of the offense of felony driving under the influence" In this case, the felony DUI statute required the State to prove three elements: (1) appellant drove his vehicle while under the influence of alcohol; (2) appellant did an act forbidden by law or neglected a duty imposed by law; and (3) the act or neglect proximately caused Garcia's death. *State v. Cribb*, 310 S.C. 518, 523, 426 S.E.2d 306, 309 (1992); *State v. Dantonio*, 658 S.C. 594, 658 S.E.2d 337 (Ct. App. 2008).

Section 56-5-2930(A), non-felony driving under the influence, provides in relevant part, "It is unlawful for a person to drive a motor vehicle within this State while under the influence of alcohol to the extent that the person's faculties to drive a motor vehicle are materially and appreciably impaired" The necessary elements of DUI are: (1) driving a motor vehicle (2) while under the influence of alcohol (3) to the extent that the driver's faculties are materially and appreciably impaired. *State v. Salisbury*, 343 S.C. 520, 541 S.E.2d 247 (2001); *State v. Russell*, 345 S.C. 128, 546 S.E.2d 202 (Ct. App. 2001).

As the Supreme Court held in *Bodiford*, cited at trial and above, DUI is "an element" of felony DUI. In other words, felony DUI is "simple" DUI plus an illegal act or the neglect of a legal duty which proximately causes death or serious bodily injury to another.

The evidence presented at trial determines the law to be charged to the jury. *State v. Lee*, 298 S.C. 362, 364, 380 S.E.2d 834 (1989); *State v. Dennis*, S.C. Ct. App. Op. No. 5222, filed April 3, 2013. If there is any evidence supporting a jury instruction, the trial court must, upon request, give the instruction. *State v. Smith*, 391 S.C. 408, 706 S.E.2d 12 (2011); *State v. Niles*, S.C. Ct. App. Op. No. 5034, filed November 14, 2012.

"A trial judge is required to charge a jury on a lesser included offense if there is evidence from which it could be inferred that a defendant committed the lesser offense rather than the greater." *State v. Drafts*, 288 S.C. 30, 32, 340 S.E.2d 784, 785 (1986); *State v. Gilliland*. "When reviewing the trial court's refusal to deliver a requested jury instruction, appellate courts must consider the evidence in a light most favorable to the defendant." *State v. Commander*, 396 S.C. 254, 721 S.E.2d 413, 422 (2011); *State v. Gilmore*, 396 S.C. 72, 719 S.E.2d 688 (Ct. App. 2011).

According to conflicting evidence presented by the State and the defense at trial, either Garcia or Barclay proximately caused the accident by crossing the center line into the other's lane of traffic. If the jury found Davila's pretrial statement to Bailey that appellant was without fault in causing the accident more credible than his trial testimony, appellant would have been guilty of DUI, not felony DUI.

The trial court's denial of a jury instruction on the lesser offense entitles appellant to a new trial.

Issue 2

The trial court committed reversible error by declining to instruct the jury that felony DUI, S.C. Code § 56-5-2945, requires proof that "the person's faculties to drive a motor vehicle [were] materially and appreciably impaired," as provided by § 56-5-2930, the DUI statute.

In order to prove appellant guilty of felony DUI, the court instructed the jury, the State had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt "the defendant was sufficiently under the influence to impair his ability to drive with reasonable care, with due regard for others and himself, or as a reasonably prudent person would drive. It is not necessary to show that the defendant was in a helpless condition, passed out, or even intoxicated." R. 1257.

The court also instructed the jury that evidence of a blood-alcohol concentration of 0.08 allowed them to infer that "the defendant was under the influence." R. 1259-60. See S.C. Code § 56-5-2950(G)(3). (The State contended that appellant's blood-alcohol level tested at 0.208 more than three hours after the accident. R. 758; r. 919.)

Defense counsel took exception to the absence of a jury instruction that the State had to prove "the defendant was materially and appreciably impaired," as provided in the DUI statute, § 56-5-2930(A). R. 1263-64. "In response to that," the court ruled, "he was charged with felony DUI, those terms are not in that statute, therefore not applicable." *Id.* (At this time, the court also decided for much the same reason that DUI was not a lesser-included offense of felony DUI. R. 1266. See Issue 1, above.) In short, the court held, a conviction for felony DUI does not require proof the accused was "materially and appreciably impaired." R. 1267-70.

Counsel renewed his motions and objections after the jury found appellant guilty of felony DUI causing death. R. 1282. In a written new trial motion reasserting this ground of error, counsel observed that the court had included the "materially and appreciably impaired" requirement in its charge to the jury in the felony DUI case of *State v. Martin*, 392 S.C. 508, 706 S.E.2d 40 (Ct. App. 2011). R. 1306. In its order denying the new trial motion, the court wrote, "Although articulated differently, the charge given essentially parallels the language in the DUI statute and has the same connotation as 'materially and appreciably impaired'." R. 1362-3.

"A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law." *State v. Mattison*, 388 S.C. 469, 697 S.E.2d 578, 584 (2010); *State v. Williams*, 367 S.C. 192, 195, 624 S.E.2d 443 (Ct. App. 2005). "It is error for the trial court to refuse to give a requested instruction which states a sound principle of law when that principle applies to the case at hand, and the principle is not otherwise included in the charge." *State v. Williams*, 367 S.C. 192, 624 S.E.2d 443, 445 (Ct. App. 2005), quoting *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 390, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000); *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 647 S.E.2d 144 (2007).

The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to determine the intent of the legislature. *State v. Baucom*, 340 S.C. 339, 342, 531 S.E.2d 922 (2000); *State v. Brannon*, 379 S.C. 487, 666 S.E.2d 487 (Ct. App. 2008). The language of a statute must be interpreted in light of its intended purpose. *State v. Gaines*, 380 S.C. 23, 667 S.E.2d 728 (2008); *State v. Jihad*, 342 S.C. 138, 536 S.E.2d 79 (Ct. App. 2000). "[W]hen a statute is penal in nature, it must be construed strictly against the State and in favor of the

defendant." *State v. Blackmon*, 303 S.C. 270, 403 S.E.2d 660, 662 (1991); *State v. Dupree*, 354 S.C. 676, 583 S.E.2d 437 (Ct. App. 2003).

S.C. Code § 56-5-2945(A), felony driving under the influence, provides in relevant part, "A person who, while under the influence of alcohol . . . drives a motor vehicle and when driving a motor vehicle does any act forbidden by law or neglects any duty imposed by law in the driving of the motor vehicle, which act or neglect proximately causes great bodily injury or death to a person other than himself, is guilty of the offense of felony driving under the influence" S.C. Code § 56-5-2930(A), non-felony driving under the influence, states, "It is unlawful for a person to drive a motor vehicle within this State while under the influence of alcohol to the extent that the person's faculties to drive a motor vehicle are materially and appreciably impaired"

DUI is a lesser-included offense of felony DUI. *State v. Bodiford*. (See Issue 1, above.) DUI requires proof that the defendant's ability to drive was materially and appreciably impaired. *City Of Orangeburg v. Carter*, 303 S.C. 290, 400 S.E.2d 140 (1991). "Driving under the influence is . . . established by proof that defendant's ability to drive was materially and appreciably impaired." *State v. Kerr*, 330 S.C. 132, 498 S.E.2d 202, 218 (Ct. App. 1998).

The *Kerr* court explained, "Prior case law speaks in terms of the ability to operate a vehicle with reasonable care and as a prudent driver with due regard for himself and others. These are proper standards with which to compare the defendant when determining whether defendant's driving abilities were materially and appreciably impaired." *Id.* The legislature made its intent expressly clear when it amended § 56-5-2930(A) to require proof of material and appreciable impairment after the Court Of

Appeals issued its opinion in *Kerr. State v. Knuckles*, 354 S.C. 626, 583 S.E.2d 51 (2003). As with the inference provided by S.C. Code § 56-5-2950, lack of reasonable care and prudence (essentially a civil tort standard) may be some evidence of material and appreciable impairment, but is not itself the level of proof required by §§ 56-5-2930 and 56-5-2945.

By omitting a charge on the correct standard of proof necessary for a conviction of felony DUI, while at the same time charging an evidentiary inference of driving under the influence derived from § 56-5-2950(G)(3), the court effectively instructed the jury on the nonexistent offense of felony driving with an unlawful alcohol concentration (DUAC), not felony DUI. S.C. Code § 56-5-2933(A), the pertinent section of DUAC statute, states, "It is unlawful for a person to drive a motor vehicle within this State while his alcohol concentration is eight one-hundredths of one percent or more." In *S.C. Department Of Motor Vehicles v. Blackwell*, 389 S.C. 293, 698 S.E.2d 770, 771-2 (2010), the Supreme Court observed, "The offense of DUAC carries a permissible inference of being under the influence. A conviction under § 56-5-2930 requires a driver to be under the influence to a certain extent. A driver may have an alcohol concentration sufficient to support a conviction of DUAC and trigger the inference, but his faculties may not be impaired to the degree required for a conviction under § 56-5-2930. Both offenses are predicated upon a driver operating a vehicle while under the influence of alcohol, albeit to potentially different extents."

The trial court's omission of the requested jury instruction that felony DUI requires proof that "the person's faculties to drive a motor vehicle [were] materially and appreciably impaired" entitles appellant to a new trial.

Issue 3

The trial court committed reversible error by allowing into evidence the results of appellant's blood test since the drawing of appellant's blood without a warrant constituted an unreasonable search and seizure prohibited by the Fourth Amendment, as interpreted by *Missouri v. McNeely*, US Sup. Ct. Op. No. 11-1425, decided April 17, 2013.

The accident occurred at 6:06 pm.² R. 290. Emergency and fire personnel responded within minutes, followed shortly by Deputy Dustin Luckadoo. R. 324. An ambulance transported appellant to the Medical University of South Carolina (MUSC) in Charleston, a trip of 40 minutes. R. 307; r. 310-1. At 7:30 pm, Deputy Herman Martin entered the emergency room. R. 805-6. In the meantime, Deputies William Brinson and Michael Burrell had arrived at the accident scene and started their investigation. R. 358. Brinson, the lead investigator, concluded he had probable cause to arrest appellant for felony DUI and obtain a blood sample after speaking with Luckadoo (first by telephone on his way to the location) and rescue workers at the scene and then with Martin by telephone at the hospital. R. 153-5; r. 328-9.

Shortly before 9:50 pm, by telephone Brinson and Burrell directed Martin to obtain a sample of appellant's blood. R. 105; r. 155. None of the officers involved made any effort to secure a warrant. At 9:50 pm, a nurse drew two vials of blood by needle inserted into a vein in appellant's arm. R. 756-8.

Defense counsel filed a pretrial motion to suppress the blood evidence "by reason of illegal seizure of defendant's blood without a warrant." R. 1. At a hearing on the motion, the State argued, "[T]hey don't have to get a warrant first . . . because of the

² Times given are approximate.

exigent circumstances and the evidentiary nature of the blood, there is no need for a warrant," citing *State v. Williams*, 297 S.C. 290, 376 S.E.2d 773 (1989). R. 222; R. 226. The court denied the motion to suppress on that basis. R. 231-3.

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