STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

ORIGINAL

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County
The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2012-212639

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

WALTER DOUGLAS BARCLAY,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

CHRISTINA J. CATOE
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 73562

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

DEC 09 2013

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County
The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2012-212639

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

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

Finally, assuming it was error to admit the blood test results, the error was harmless. During the testimony of the chemist, the State introduced the blood test results over Appellant's "foundation" objection. (R. p. 919, lines 1-8). Subsequently, on cross-examination and without reserving any objection to the blood test results, Appellant's counsel introduced the chemist's report into evidence. (R. p. 922, lines 1-8; see also p. 1199, lines 17-24). The chemist's report containing the blood test results was merely cumulative to the chemist's testimony about the results. Therefore, any error in admitting the blood test results was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See State v. McKinney, 258 S.C. 570, 571, 190 S.E.2d 30, 30 (1972) ("During the course of the trial certain testimony was admitted over the objection of [appellant's] counsel. Thereafter, counsel for the appellant cross-examined the witness thereabout *without reserving the objection previously made*. The objection was thereby lost and if any error had been committed in the admission of the testimony it was cured.") (emphasis added); State v. Sullivan, 277 S.C. 35, 45, 282 S.E.2d 838, 844 (1981) (indicating that a defendant cannot complain of an error which results from his own conduct or to which his conduct has contributed); State v. Johnson, 298 S.C. 496, 498-99, 381 S.E.2d 732, 733 (1989) ("The admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence.").

IV. Assuming the issue is properly before this Court, the trial judge properly admitted evidence of an empty liquor bottle found in the vicinity of Appellant's truck at the collision scene where the evidence was relevant to the charge of felony DUL. In any event, even if the judge erred in admitting this evidence, such error was harmless where the evidence was merely cumulative to other evidence in the record and where its admission was insignificant in the context of the entire record.

Issue Preservation

In a pre-trial written motion, Appellant argued that evidence relating to the Jim Beam bottle should be excluded because the State destroyed the evidence prior to trial.

(See R. p. 13-14). Appellant also argued that the photograph of the Jim Beam bottle was irrelevant under Rule 401 because it was “found somewhere in the woods” and that admission of the photograph was improper because, under Rule 403, the probative value of the photograph was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, and the potential for the jury to be misled. (See R. p. 14). In the pre-trial hearing, Appellant briefly argued that photographs of the Jim Beam bottle were not relevant, but made no argument regarding Rule 403. (See R. p. 37-39). In fact, most of Appellant’s pre-trial hearing argument focused on the fact that the bottle had been destroyed prior to trial and that Appellant was therefore unable to have it fingerprinted. (See R. p. 39-51). Later in trial, when the State offered three photographs relating to the Jim Beam bottle into evidence, Appellant’s counsel stated, “Objection, Your Honor.” (R. p. 515, lines 23-25). After a bench conference, the trial judge stated she was admitting the photographs over Appellant’s objections on “relevance, spoliation, and the other issues raised are as to weight and that can be covered in cross-examination.” (R. p. 516, lines 2-11). The judge did not rule on any issue regarding Rule 403 nor did Appellant request that she do so. (R. p. 516).

Based on the foregoing, the State submits that no issue with regard to Rule 403 is preserved for appellate review.⁹ Although Appellant mentioned Rule 403 in his written pre-trial motion in a summary fashion, he did not raise a Rule 403 issue at the pre-trial hearing or in his objection during trial. (See R. p. 14; p. 37-51; p. 515-16). The trial

⁹ It is also arguable that the entire issue is unpreserved because Appellant cross-examined Investigator Kjellman about the Jim Beam bottle without reserving an objection to the testimony. (See R. p. 533-38). See State v. McKinney, 258 S.C. 570, 571, 190 S.E.2d 30, 30 (1972) (“During the course of the trial certain testimony was admitted over the objection of [appellant’s] counsel. Thereafter, counsel for the appellant cross-examined the witness thereabout *without reserving the objection previously made*. The objection was thereby lost and if any error had been committed in the admission of the testimony it was cured.”) (emphasis added).

judge consequently did not issue a ruling regarding Rule 403. (See R. p. 515-16). Accordingly, the Rule 403 argument made on appeal is not preserved for review. See State v. Smith, 391 S.C. 353, 365, 705 S.E.2d 491, 497 (Ct. App. 2011), *reversed on other grounds* by Op. No. 27328 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Oct. 30, 2013) (Davis Adv. Sh. No. 46 at 15) (Rule 403 argument not preserved for appellate review where the particular argument was not raised to or ruled upon by the trial judge).

Furthermore, on appeal, Appellant's issue statement contends that the trial court committed reversible error by allowing evidence of an empty Jim Beam bottle found near the collision scene because, *inter alia*, it was more prejudicial than probative under Rule 403, SCRE. However, no Rule 403 issue is properly before this Court because, although Appellant quotes Rule 403 in his brief, Appellant does not make any actual argument regarding Rule 403 and does not discuss the probative versus prejudicial value of the evidence. (See Brief of Appellant, p. 17-19). See State v. Jones, 392 S.C. 647, 655, 709 S.E.2d 696, 700-701 (Ct. App. 2011) (finding an argument to be abandoned on appeal where, although appellant's issue statement mentioned the argument, the body of his brief focused on a different issue and appellant provided no case law or authority in support of his particular argument); see also State v. Jones, 344 S.C. 48, 58-59, 543 S.E.2d 541, 546 (2001). Instead, Appellant's focus appears to be on the State's purported inability to establish the relevance of the evidence. (See Brief of Appellant, p. 17-19). Therefore, the State submits that no Rule 403 issue is presented for review.

Discussion

Error preservation concerns aside, the trial judge properly allowed evidence regarding the Jim Beam bottle because the State established that the evidence was relevant. "Relevant evidence" refers to evidence that has a tendency to make the

existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence. State v. Lyles, 379 S.C. 328, 336-37, 665 S.E.2d 201, 206 (Ct. App. 2008). “Under Rule 401, evidence is relevant if it has a direct bearing upon and tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy.” Id. (citations omitted). The existence of a logical connection to the facts in debate makes evidence relevant and admissible. Id. at 340, 665 S.E.2d at 207. “All relevant evidence is admissible, except as otherwise provided by the Constitution of the United States, the Constitution of the State of South Carolina, statutes, [the rules of evidence], or by other rules promulgated by the Supreme Court of South Carolina.” Id. at 337, 665 S.E.2d at 206. A trial judge's decision regarding the relevancy of evidence should only be overturned for a clear abuse of discretion. Id. at 339, 665 S.E.2d at 207 (citations omitted).

The evidence regarding the Jim Beam bottle was relevant in this felony DUI case because the circumstantial evidence warranted an inference that the empty bottle belonged to Appellant. The collision involved an extremely violent crash after which Appellant's truck rolled over twice; this, unsurprisingly, caused unrestrained items to be ejected from Appellant's vehicle. (See R. p. 368, lines 23-25). The bottle was found on the side of the road at the collision scene, about ten feet from Appellant's cooler, in close proximity to Appellant's burst beer cans and to his truck.¹⁰ (See R. p. 25-26; p. 280, lines

¹⁰ There is some question about whether or not the Jim Beam bottle was moved to the side of the road, along with the burst beer cans and the cooler, by Appellant's neighbor before the police arrived. Although the prosecutor told the judge that she believed testimony to that effect would be forthcoming (see R. p. 30; p. 33-34), the only evidence regarding items being moved was Jose Davilla's rather vague testimony that Ray Woods, who was friends with Appellant, “got the cooler, got the beer.” (R. p. 704, lines 18-22; see also R. p. 1059-61). Appellant did not ask that the evidence regarding the Jim Beam bottle be withdrawn on the ground that the prosecutor's expected testimony was not elicited. In any event, even assuming the items had been moved, they were apparently moved only a short distance from in the roadway to the side of the road. (See R. p. 30; p. 33-34; see R. p. 704, lines 18-22). Either way, the Jim Beam bottle was in close proximity to Appellant's truck after the collision and was near the cooler and beer cans Appellant admitted

17-20; p. 326, lines 19-21; p. 355-56; p. 518-19; see p. 1394-96). Appellant did not dispute that the particular road involved was not “a road with random patches of litter everywhere.” (R. p. 37). Further, Investigator Kjellman specifically testified that it appeared that the Jim Beam bottle had “freshly been put there.” (R. p. 536, lines 12-14). Importantly, Appellant appeared to be intoxicated after the crash and had a blood alcohol level of .208 nearly four hours after the collision. (See R. p. 292; p. 313; p. 364, lines 4-6; p. 919, lines 7-16). Under the circumstances, there was a reasonable inference to be drawn that the empty Jim Beam bottle came from Appellant’s truck. Therefore, evidence regarding the bottle was relevant because it tended to make more probable a fact in controversy; that is, that Appellant was driving while under the influence of alcohol. Accordingly, the trial judge did not err in admitting this evidence.

Even assuming the trial judge erred in admitting evidence relating to the Jim Beam bottle, the State submits that such error would have been harmless. Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991). After an error is found, the appellate court must then review the other evidence considered at trial besides the erroneously admitted evidence. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 55, 625 S.E.2d 216, 223 (2006). The harmlessness of an error in the admission of evidence generally depends on the materiality of the evidence in relation to the case as a whole. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003); see State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. 490, 497, 692 S.E.2d 560, 564 (Ct. App. 2010) (“No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.”). Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if

were his. (See R. p. 280, lines 17-20).

it does not contribute to the verdict. State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 25, 664 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008). Additionally, “[u]nder settled principles, the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence.” State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978).

First, the photographs depicting the Jim Beam bottle were merely cumulative to previous testimony about the liquor bottle being found at the scene. (See R. p. 365-66; see R. p. 516-17). Prior to Investigator Kjellman’s testimony, Detective Brinson testified that he observed at the scene a cooler, some beer cans, and a liquor bottle. (R. p. 365, lines 22-25). Although Appellant objected immediately after this testimony, he did not state the grounds for his objection on the record but instead requested a bench conference, which was not recorded. (See R. p. 366, lines 1-6). The judge’s ruling on the objection is unclear since she simply stated, “[p]roceed,” and Appellant’s counsel did not thereafter seek to place his ground for objecting on the record and did not request that the testimony about the liquor bottle be stricken. (See R. p. 366). See York v. Conway Ford, Inc., 325 S.C. 170, 173, 480 S.E.2d 726, 728 (1997) (“An objection made during an off-the-record conference which is not made part of the record does not preserve the question for review.”); State v. Harry, 321 S.C. 273, 280, 468 S.E.2d 76, 80 (Ct. App. 1996) (issue not preserved where counsel objected without stating any grounds and raised no further issue after an unrecorded bench conference). Therefore, the photographs of the Jim Beam bottle were merely cumulative to evidence already in the record and any error in admitting the photographs was harmless. See Blackburn, 271 S.C. at 329, 247 S.E.2d at 337.

Second, admission of the Jim Beam bottle was harmless because of its insignificance in the context of the entire record. The testimony about the Jim Beam

bottle took up less than ten pages in the transcript of a trial that took place over a period of nine days. (See R. p. 365, lines 24-25; p. 518, line 20 – p. 520, line 19; p. 533, line 1 – p. 538, line 18). The bottle was not mentioned in the opening statements or in the State's closing argument.¹¹ (See R. p. 260-88; p. 1216-44). Defense counsel elicited testimony that the bottle appeared dusty and dirty and suggested that the bottle was probably trash that had been left in the woods previously. (See R. p. 533; p. 536-37; p. 1192, lines 2-5). Additionally, Investigator Kjellman acknowledged on cross-examination that she did not know how the bottle came to be where it was found. (R. p. 533, line 24 – p. 534, line 1). Defense counsel also fully exploited the fact that the police department had destroyed the evidence before trial and that the State could not show that Appellant's fingerprints were on the bottle. (See R. p. 534-39; p. 610-11; p. 1191-92).

Importantly, considering that (1) Appellant acknowledged that the cooler and unopened beer cans were his; (2) Appellant admitted to drinking at his farm; (3) there was plenty of evidence in the record establishing that Appellant appeared impaired by alcohol; and (4) Appellant's blood alcohol concentration was .208 nearly four hours after the crash, the evidence of the empty liquor bottle was not significant enough so as to affect the outcome of trial. (See R. p. 280, lines 17-20; p. 292; p. 313; p. 326; p. 413, lines 5-7; p. 472; p. 490-91; p. 554-55; p. 760; p. 808; p. 919, lines 7-8). Finally, it is apparent that the jurors were not improperly swayed to convict based upon the Jim Beam bottle because they returned a "not guilty" verdict as to one of the charges. (See R. p. 1277, lines 1-5). Accordingly, even if it was error to admit evidence regarding the Jim Beam bottle, such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt since the evidence was insignificant in the context of the entire record and admission of the evidence did not

¹¹ Notably, the prosecutor in closing referenced the cooler and beer cans, which Appellant admitted were his, but did not mention the Jim Beam bottle. (See R. p. 1220-21).

affect the outcome of trial. See State v. Lyles, 379 S.C. at 345-46, 665 S.E.2d at 210 (error that has no impact of the outcome of the case is harmless); see also State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 390-91, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475-76 (2012).

V. The trial judge properly excluded a videotape of Appellant, made by Appellant's attorney at the hospital several hours after the collision, since the videotape was not proper impeachment evidence and Appellant failed to authenticate the videotape through the witness he sought to impeach. In any event, even assuming error, exclusion of the videotape was harmless where the videotape was cumulative to the testimony of Appellant's expert.

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